STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

JAN 26 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIE M. WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001152

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

In a case where both voluntary manslaughter and self-defense were charged to the jury, did the trial court err by excluding as hearsay a threat made by the alleged victim while holding a gun on the appellant?

2.

Did the trial court err by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter because appellant testified that the gun went off during a struggle with one of the alleged victims?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 23, 2013, a Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant for murder, attempted murder, unlawful conduct towards a child, and a related weapons charge. R. 482. On May 13, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. R. 1. Judith M. Munson represented the State. R. 1. Richard H. Warder and W. Townes Jones, IV represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant on all charges. R. 463, ll. 6 – 22. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of life imprisonment for murder, thirty years' imprisonment for attempted murder, ten years' imprisonment for unlawful conduct towards a child, and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge suspended to time served. R. 480, l. 8 – 481, l. 2. After timely service and filing of a notice of appeal, this appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### The Family Background

Appellant Willie Marvin Williams (“Williams”) was forty-seven years old at the time of trial. R. 279, ll. 2 – 3. He graduated from high school in Laurens and joined the National Guard. R. 279, ll. 10 – 24. He was employed for many years as a machinist, working in a textile mill, and working in an automobile plant. R. 281, ll. 6 – 282, l. 23. In 2005, Williams went to work for Kellogg Brown & Root in Iraq. R. 283, ll. 16 – 284, l. 8. Williams did several stints in Iraq and endured shelling and indirect fire. R. 289, l. 1 – 296, l. 15.

Just before getting the job in Iraq, Williams met Natasha Kerns (“Kerns”). R. 283, ll. 1 – 3. They began dating. R. 283, ll. 6 – 15. They continued their relationship during Williams’ employment in Iraq. R. 285, l. 20 – 286, l. 21. While Williams was home between Iraq contracts, Kerns became pregnant. R. 287, ll. 6 – 11. Williams maintained his own residence, but moved in with Kerns and began supporting her financially. R. 287, ll. 12 – 19. Kerns already had a son (“Son”) and then gave birth to Williams’ daughter (“Daughter”). R. 287, l. 20 – 289, l. 6. Because of the excellent pay, Williams signed another one-year contract for Iraq. R. 289, ll. 7 – 24. In 2009, during a trip home, Williams and Kerns married. R. 295, ll. 8 – 15. Williams went back to Iraq. R. 295, ll. 21 – 23.

When he got back to Iraq, Williams “started having problems with all the bombing, and shelling, and the killing, and stuff.” R. 296, ll. 6 – 15. His employer moved him to another military camp, but by this point Williams developed problems due to the constant stress and difficulty sleeping. R. 296, ll. 16 – 297, l. 24. He eventually resigned to return home to his family. R. 296, ll. 16 – 297, l. 24. His employer told him he was welcome to

return once he got better. R. 297, ll. 16 – 21. Williams returned to Greenville in February 2010. R. 297, ll. 22 – 24.

Williams had trouble adjusting to life back in Greenville. R. 306, l. 22 – 311, l. 1. He had trouble sleeping, nightmares, and flashbacks. R. 306, l. 22 – 311, l. 1. Complicating matters, his wife was pursuing a nascent performing career and would go to clubs and sing at open mic events until 3:00 AM. R. 311, l. 15 – 312, l. 2. In May 2010, Kerns returned home late one night and Williams thought someone was trying to break into their house. R. 312, ll. 1 – 12. He took a firearm from their closet and went to the door. R. 312, ll. 1 – 12. When Kerns entered, the sight of Williams with a gun frightened her and, as a result, the couple soon grew distant. R. 312, ll. 13 – 24. Later in May 2010, the couple got into an argument which resulted in Kerns calling 911, pulling a knife on Williams, and ultimately throwing his belongings in the front yard. R. 358, l. 12 – 361, l. 2. Williams moved back to his house in Laurens County. R. 313, ll. 2 – 4.

### The Shooting

In the wee hours of Saturday morning July 10, 2010, Kerns died from a gunshot wound. Son and another man, Anthony Wilson (“Wilson”) testified for the State and gave very different versions about the shooting. Son’s story was physically impossible based on the forensic evidence. R. 44, l. 16 – 45, l. 18. R. 149, l. 15 – 150, l. 19. Both Son and Wilson’s stories differed dramatically from Williams’ testimony, who did not deny that he was at the scene, but said that he was attacked by an armed Wilson and that Wilson’s gun went off during the ensuing struggle. R. 333, l. 12 – 342, l. 20.

Son was the second witness to testify. R. 31, ll. 7 – 15. He was twelve years old at the time of trial. R. 31, ll. 22 – 23. According to Son, Wilson was his mother’s

“bodyguard.” R. 33, ll. 21 – 25. He had never seen Wilson before the night of the shooting. R. 34, ll. 3 – 5. Son was asleep in his room when he was awakened by a gunshot. R. 35, ll. 2 – 15. He turned on the lights. R. 35, ll. 18 – 23. The “bodyguard” told him to turn them off. R. 36, ll. 1 – 3. He looked out the window and saw Williams’ car. R. 36, ll. 4 – 19.

Son crawled out of his room and down the hall. R. 36, ll. 19 – 23. He saw his mother on the ground and Williams standing over her firing. R. 37, ll. 15 – 25. Son watched Williams fire “four or five” shots into Kerns. R. 45, ll. 6 – 9. He saw Williams shoot Kerns in the right shoulder and in the center of her chest. R. 45, ll. 6 – 18. Williams left “[a]fter he ran out of bullets” and jumped out a window. R. 46, l. 1 – 47, l. 2.

Son’s version of the shooting could not have happened. The State’s pathologist, Dr. Michael Ward (“Ward”) testified that Kerns died from a single gunshot wound to the head. R. 149, l. 15 – 150, l. 23. He found superficial scratches around the gunshot wound “meaning that the bullet passed through something else before it struck Ms. Kerns in the face.” R. 150, ll. 1 – 10. Dr. Ward testified that “Examination of the chest and abdomen revealed no relevant findings as to her death.” R. 150, ll. 14 – 15.

The State played a 911 recording from the night of the incident. R. 24, ll. 7 – 14. State’s Ex. 1. Kerns called 911. State’s Ex. 1. She tells the operator that she and her husband were going through a divorce, that an order of protection was in progress, and that Williams was not supposed to be around her house. State’s Ex. 1. The operator asks if she has seen Williams. State’s Ex. 1. Kerns says she heard a noise. State’s Ex. 1. Kerns tells the operator she has a .380 firearm with her. State’s Ex. 1. After some silence, Kerns whispers, “There is somebody out there.” State’s Ex. 1. She then says Williams is on her front porch. State’s Ex. 1. After another period of silence, someone yells and there is a loud

crash or bang. State's Ex. 1. The operator tries to get Kerns to answer, but she does not. State's Ex. 1. During the intervals when the operator is not speaking, indistinct noises can be heard in the background. State's Ex. 1. Four loud bangs follow another quiet period. State's Ex. 1. The remainder of the recording has long periods of quiet, the operator saying "Ma'am? Hello?" and more indistinct background noises. State's Ex. 1.

"Bodyguard" Wilson met Kerns at a night club in Charlotte. R. 166, ll. 1 – 11. Wilson was thirty-six years old at the time of trial (eleven years younger than Williams<sup>1</sup>). R. 166, ll. 5 – 6. Wilson and Kerns began talking on the phone. R. 166, ll. 12 – 15. Wilson came to visit Kerns in Greenville on a Thursday night. R. 166, ll. 16 – 24. On Friday night, Wilson and Kerns "were out with the kids." R. 167, l. 23 – 168, l. 1. They returned to Kerns' house at approximately 12:00-1:00 AM. R. 168, ll. 5 – 6. Despite the lateness of the hour, Wilson claimed he and Kerns continued to play with the kids until eventually Son went to his room. R. 168, ll. 12 – 21. Daughter, who was approximately two years old, supposedly fell asleep in the bed beside Wilson and Kerns at approximately 3:00 AM. R. 168, ll. 19 – 25.

Wilson claimed he was awakened by a dog barking and "some ruckus going on around outside of the house." R. 169, l. 23 – 170, l. 10. He awakened Kerns. R. 170, ll. 11 – 19. Kerns "immediately hopped up. She grabbed her weapon and ran toward the front." R. 170, ll. 20 – 23. Wilson took Daughter to Son's room. R. 171, ll. 1 – 3.

---

<sup>1</sup> Williams testified that he and Kerns had "a difference in ages. So I was older than her." R. 287, ll. 2 -3.

Wilson claimed he could hear Kerns talking and heard her “say something about get away from my property, get away from my house.” R. 171, ll. 18 – 25. Still in Son’s room, he saw the “silhouette of a human being come down the hallway” that he knew was not Kerns. R. 172, ll. 11 – 22. The person “came into the kids room.” R. 173, ll. 10 – 20. Wilson tripped over a video game then heard gunshots. R. 175, ll. 2 – 8. He believed the first shot hit him. R. 175, ll. 2 – 8. He claimed it knocked him unconscious. R. 175, ll. 2 – 13.

The EMT said Wilson “had a superficial laceration noted to the right side of his head.” R. 98, ll. 15 – 20. Wilson also complained to the EMT that “he was kicked in the chest.” R. 98, ll. 21 – 22. At trial, Wilson never mentioned anything about being kicked in the chest.

#### *The Defendant’s Testimony*

Williams testified that Wilson attacked him outside of Kerns’ house. R. 332, l. 10 – 342, l. 20. Earlier that evening, Williams traveled to Greenville for a date that ended when the woman abandoned him to hang out with her aunt and cousins. R. 326, ll. 18 – 23. Williams went to another club by himself and left at approximately 4:15 AM. R. 328, l. 4 – 329, l. 8. He called Kerns’ cell phone and house phone. R. 329, ll. 9 – 14. Williams was supposed to pick up Daughter in a few hours. R. 327, ll. 4 – 6. He decided that instead of driving fifty miles home only to turn right around and return to Greenville, he would go to Kerns’ house. R. 329, ll. 15 – 18.

When Williams got to Kerns’ house he saw an unfamiliar vehicle with North Carolina plates. R. 329, ll. 21 – 25. He did not see Kerns’ car. R. 329, ll. 21 – 25. He parked and went to the front door. R. 330, l. 25 – 333, l. 2. He knocked. R. 332, l. 18 –

333, l. 2. The dogs barked. R. 332, l. 18 – 333, l. 5. As Williams turned to leave the porch, he saw the curtain move. R. 333, ll. 5 – 14. He turned back to “peep in through the window.” R. 333, ll. 5 – 14.

Williams then heard a noise behind him. R. 333, ll. 9 – 11. He turned and saw a man who turned out to be Wilson pointing a handgun at him. R. 333, ll. 12 – 14. R. 338, l. 25 – 339, l. 1. R. 368, ll. 12 – 18. Wilson told Williams, “I, finally, get to meet the man whose money I’ve been spending.”<sup>2</sup> R. 334, l. 17 – 18. Williams then demonstrated for the jury how he and Wilson struggled over the gun. R. 339, ll. 13 – 25. During the struggle, Williams said, “Then the gun went off, pow.” R. 339, ll. 13 – 25.

After the gun “went off,” the men continued to wrestle and both crashed through a window into the house. R. 340, ll. 1 – 17. The fight continued through the house and to the door of Son’s bedroom. R. 340, l. 18 – 342, l. 6. Williams described another struggle over the gun and said “that’s when the gun went off, pow, pow, pow.”<sup>3</sup> R. 342, ll. 8 – 16. Wilson went to the floor and did not move. R. 342, ll. 15 – 20. Williams did not see Son or Daughter. R. 342, l. 21 – 343, l. 5. He then saw Kerns and “blood everywhere.” R. 343, ll. 6 – 13. When Williams found Kerns had no pulse, he began crying and had “an anxiety attack.” R. 343, ll. 2 – 13.

---

<sup>2</sup> Judge Jefferson did not allow the jury to hear what Wilson said to Williams. The State objected that Wilson’s statement was hearsay. The trial judge sustained the objection over argument from defense counsel. R. 333, l. 12 – 336, l. 1. This ruling is Williams’ first issue on appeal.

<sup>3</sup> Williams’ second issue on appeal is the trial judge’s refusal to charge involuntary manslaughter. R. 403, l. 24 – 404, l. 1.

Williams “flipped out.” R. 343, ll. 14 – 25. He saw “911” on the face of Kerns’ cell phone. R. 343, ll. 22 – 25. He left. R. 343, ll. 22 – 25. Williams drove around for hours. R. 345, l. 5 – 351, l. 11. Williams eventually led the police on a high-speed chase that ended when a police cruiser struck Williams’ car “to spin him out of control.” R. 78, l. 3 – 81, l. 19. When the officers approached the car, they found Williams with a knife sticking out of his chest. R. 81, l. 24 – 82, l. 4. Williams testified that he tried to kill himself because he “decided [he] didn’t want to live any more.” R. 353, ll. 11 – 21. After four hours of deliberation and a question on the difference between murder and voluntary manslaughter, the jury convicted Williams. R. 456, ll. 4 – 5. R. 458, ll. 4 – 6. R. 462, ll. 1 – 3.

## ARGUMENT

1.

In a case where both voluntary manslaughter and self-defense were charged to the jury, the trial court erred by excluding as hearsay a threat made by the alleged victim while holding a gun on the appellant.

The trial court erred in excluding Wilson’s threat as hearsay. Williams described the crucial moments before the shooting:

A. And so I turned to walk off the porch. I see the curtain move. And once I see the curtain move, I stopped to turn facing the house in the window to kind of peep in through the curtain, peep in through the window. As I did that, I heard – it was in the grass – it was on the grass there, maybe hit the concrete. I hear some noise.

And so I turned. When I turned, I see a guy, an individual<sup>4</sup> approaching me. And they pulled out a weapon and pointed it at me and said–

---

<sup>4</sup> Williams later identified the man with the gun as Wilson. R. 368, ll. 12 – 18.

Q. Hold on a minute. Hold on a minute. Let me – go ahead. What was said? Go ahead. I’m sorry. Tell the jury what was said.

MS. MUNSON: Objection, hearsay.

R. 333, ll. 6 – 17. The trial court then excused the jury. R. 333, l. 24 – 334, l. 2.

Defense counsel then proffered Williams’ testimony. Wilson told Williams, “I, finally, get to meet the man whose money I’ve been spending.” R. 334, ll. 17 – 18. Defense counsel then told the court he planned to question Williams about his reaction. The following colloquy occurred:

THE COURT: He can testify that a gun was pointed at him. But the words that were spoken are not really relevant to state of mind. I thought he was going to say – originally, he was going to say something about – I thought it was something that was provocation. And I’m not hearing that.

MR. JONES: Well, you know, in Willie’s mind, it kind of could have been – I mean, he would have to testify to it.

THE COURT: Well, words, no matter how – don’t justify self-defense. It would have to be something that is life threatening. You just taunting me is not enough for self-defense. And that would be in the nature of a taunt, if I were to take it in the light most favorable as you’re advancing it.

MR. JONES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: But I don’t think it falls within the exception.

MR. JONES: He’s, also, testifying that the declarant had a gun pointed at him.

THE COURT: Well, he can testify to that. But the words do not rise to the level of provocation. So that would be excluded. But he can testify that someone pointed a gun at him.

Get the jury back in.

R. 335, l. 3 – 336, l. 2. Judge Jefferson allowed no further argument.

The trial judge erred in excluding this statement for multiple reasons. The State objected solely on the ground of hearsay, but Wilson's statement does not meet the definition of hearsay. To be hearsay, the statement must be offered into evidence for the truth of the matter asserted. SCRE 801(c). "If the out-of-court statement is being offered for a purpose other than proving the truth of the matter asserted, it is not hearsay." 29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 671. "In other words, an out-of-court statement is not hearsay unless the party offering the statement is attempting to prove the statement is true." *Id.* Wilson's statement was not offered to prove that he was finally getting to meet Williams or that Wilson was spending Williams' money. It was offered to prove that Wilson was threatening—or, even as the trial judge minimized it—taunting Williams. "Words offered to prove the effect on the hearer are admissible when they are offered to show their effect on one whose conduct is at issue." 29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 676. Even if the trial judge recognized it correctly as a taunt, the statement simply cannot qualify as hearsay because if it was a taunt, it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

Defendants' threats are almost always admitted and in a self-defense case, since the roles are reversed, the victim's threats are also properly admitted. These kinds of statements made by alleged victims are routinely admitted into evidence in manslaughter and self-defense cases admitted without controversy. See *State v. Santiago*, 370 S.C. 153, 157-58, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006) (decedent told defendant to "stay the f-away from my daughter" and "don't be f-ing stupid" in a self-defense case); *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 361-62, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424-25 (2000) (admitting multiple statements of the victim in a manslaughter case); *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 543-44, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492 (1998)

(victim told defendant “Yeah, we’ve got problems” then pulled out a pistol in a self-defense case); State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 398, 434 S.E.2d 272, 273 (1993) (decedent told defendant “You think you are a big man because you got a gun.”); State v. Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 64 S.E.2d 130 (1951) (wife told husband she would “put him in the penitentiary” in a manslaughter case).

Even if Wilson’s threat somehow could be hearsay, it would fall under one of several exceptions. Wilson’s threat would be an excited utterance. SCRE 803(2). Holding a gun on someone qualifies the declarant as “under the stress of excitement caused by the event.” SCRE 803(2). Wilson’s threat would be a “statement of the declarant’s then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health). SCRE 803(3). Wilson’s threat shows his motive and intent to harm Williams and explains Williams’ actions in response to that statement.

Wilson’s threat is also admissible as *res gestae*. It was part of the fabric of the event. In State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000), evidence of the defendant’s drug use was admissible under the theory of *res gestae*, citing State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 371 (1996):

Here...the temporal proximity of the cocaine use to the robbery and murder is so close that one cannot deny that the cocaine use was so much a part of the “environment” of the crime that omitting the evidence of it would unnecessarily fragmentize the State’s case...The use of the cocaine here was inextricably intertwined with the robbery and murder. Under these circumstances, such evidence was properly admitted as part of the *res gestae* of the crime.

In this case, excising Wilson's threat which was inextricably intertwined with the fight and the shooting violated the principle of *res gestae* and prevented the jury from hearing the full nature of the events of the shooting.

Williams' inability to tell the jury that Wilson threatened him prejudiced his self-defense and voluntary manslaughter theories. Williams received both of these jury charges and Wilson's threat was highly probative on both issues. Wilson's statement was relevant to whether Williams was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, whether he reasonably believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life, and whether he had a way to avoid the difficulty. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011). Without hearing Wilson's threat, the jury simply knew that Wilson stood there holding a gun on Williams and said nothing. Without hearing Wilson's threat, they could have believed that Williams' actions were unreasonable. Knowing that Wilson taunted and threatened Williams makes Williams' subsequent actions more reasonable.

Keeping Wilson's threat from the jury prejudiced Williams' case for voluntary manslaughter. In order to reduce the crime from murder to voluntary manslaughter, Williams must have acted under a sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Niles, 400 S.C. 527, 534, 735 S.E.2d 240, 243 (Ct. App. 2012). An overt, threatening act can generate the sudden heat of passion and constitute legal provocation. Gardner at 105, 64 S.E.2d at 134-35. Knowing of the threat and taunt (combined with pointing a gun) would have further mitigated the alleged crime from murder to manslaughter. The jury asked for the difference between murder and manslaughter and deliberated for over four hours. R. 456, ll. 4 – 5. R. 458, ll. 4 – 6. R. 462, ll. 1 – 3. Failure

to allow the statement prejudiced Williams' ability to fully present his defense and this Court should reverse.

2.

The trial court erred by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter because appellant testified that the gun went off during a struggle with one of the alleged victims.

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