ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIE MARVIN WILLIAMS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-001152

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.
Solicitor, 13th Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

Sams, *supra*. As a result, this appellate ground has no merit and must be dismissed.

Harmless Error

Even assuming *arguendo* Williams was somehow entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction, the failure to do so was harmless under the particular facts of this case. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014)(finding harmless error analysis is appropriate for the failure to charge a lesser included offense); State v. Battle, 408 S.C. 109, 757 S.E.2d 737 (Ct. App. 2014)(same).¹³ The failure to charge involuntary manslaughter in this case was harmless where Williams' version of events was so preposterous and non-credible and the evidence of guilt was so overwhelming that the jury would not have accepted Williams' version and convicted him of involuntary manslaughter. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006). "When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must 'determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.'" Middleton, *supra*, quoting State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218

¹³ This Court has previously held the refusal to charge the jury with a requested instruction is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2007), *affirmed* 387 S.C. 310 (2010); State v. Jeffries, 316 S.C. 13,21, 446 S.E.2d 427, 431 (1994)(harmless error analysis is appropriate where the error complained of is a "trial error" rather than a "structural defect" in the trial mechanism itself). See also Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41, *Toal, C.J. concurring. Contra Light; Lee.*

(Ct. App. 1998). “In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” *Id.*, *citation omitted*. “Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact intensive inquiry.” *Id.* A fact intensive inquiry shows Judge Jefferson’s not charging involuntary manslaughter did not contribute to the verdict.

It was undisputed at trial the victim and her husband, appellant Williams, were separated and there had been two (2) prior domestic incidents at the home resulting in Williams moving out and returning to his home in Gray Court. The victim had subsequently filed for a restraining order and for child support, and Williams had been served with the papers and was due in court the following week on the same. Testimony at trial established Williams was upset about having to pay child support. It was also undisputed at trial that the victim was afraid of Williams and had barricaded her front door with her living room furniture.

Williams, who was on a date the night of the victim’s murder, tried to call the victim several times, and she would not answer the phone. Williams’ date testified Williams left the nightclub they were at around 3:45 a.m. hurriedly “peeling” his tires and abandoning her and her aunt. As a result, she and her aunt had to obtain a ride home from the club.

While dark, Williams drove to the victim’s residence arriving at approximately 4:45 a.m. and claimed at trial that he was going by the victim’s home to check on the victim and the children and possibly stay the night, or pick up his daughter. This testimony is not credible given his admission at trial that the victim was afraid of him and had filed for a restraining order on him. There, at the victim’s residence, Williams found his estranged wife’s new boyfriend’s car parked in the driveway of the residence.

The victim's boyfriend, *Anthony*, who was sleeping beside the victim, testified he was awakened by noises outside the house. He awakened the victim, who immediately obtained her semi-automatic pistol from under the bed, and approached the barricaded front door. *Anthony* did not leave the home, but because of what was going on took the victim's infant daughter to the victim's young son's bedroom to lay her in the bed with her brother. *Anthony* could not have left the home, as Williams later claimed, through the rear door because it was armed with a burglar alarm. *Anthony* could not have exited the front door of the home because it was barricaded with furniture. Further, Williams admitted *Anthony* did not come out the front door.

The State introduced the 911 call of the incident. On the 911 tape, the victim can be heard telling the 911 operator there is someone on her front porch. She also tells the operator she had filed for a restraining order from her husband Williams *and* she is going through a divorce. She then tells the operator Williams is on her front porch. The victim can be heard yelling at Williams to get off her front porch and away from her house. The gunshot that killed the victim can then be heard on the 911 tape. Williams claimed at trial that he never heard the victim yell at him when he knocked on the front door. The physical evidence shows Williams shot the victim through the front living room window as she was peeking through the curtains. Her eyes were open when she was shot. She was shot between the eyes.

The victim immediately fell to the floor dead, with her phone lying beside her. The hole made by the vacant window pane was large enough for Williams to crawl through, which he did. Viewing the photographs of this hole, it is hard to fathom two (2) grown men fell through this window as Williams claimed at trial. Further, the glass in the window was not broken, as the police found the window frame and glass intact and leaning against an inside wall behind a

couch. Williams did not attempt to enter the residence through the back door, which contained the loud screeching alarm, or the front door, which was barricaded, but through the window pane hole he created.

Anthony testified he laid the victim's daughter in the bunk bed with *J.*; and, when he turned, Williams entered the room and fired at least three (3) shots. On the 911 tape, one can hear Williams fire four (4) shots in rapid succession. *Anthony* was struck by one (1) of the shots knocking him unconscious. He did not regain consciousness until *J.* was shaking him on the floor telling him to wake up.

J. testified he was awakened after he heard the first shot, and he saw Williams' car outside. He left his room crawling down the hallway and found his mom lying on the living room floor. *J.* stated he saw Williams standing over his mom shooting her. When asked how many shots did he hear, *J.* responded "[n]ine or four, one of those two." *J.* testified Williams left "[a]fter he ran out of bullets." *J.* explained that he knew Williams ran out of bullets because "he faced it at me" and "he shot it. He shot it at me. And then he ran out of bullets. You know how a gun says—when the bullet goes out of bullets, and then it says pssh [phonetic] and it's out of bullets. And then he left." *J.* testified Williams left out of the window in the den. (R. pp. 37-49).

When the first police responders arrived, they found the garage/den window pane missing and entered the home through the same window hole finding *J.* holding his baby sister in the living room. *J.* eventually told police outside the home that "Willie Marvin" killed my momma. Appellant's name is *Willie Marvin* Williams. Also in the living room police found *Anthony* with a blood soaked towel around his head. He had a grazing gunshot wound to the head.

Crime scene specialists found the doors to the residence locked, and had to break in the back door to enter the residence. Upon breaking in the back door, a screeching, piercing, burglar alarm went off. Inside the residence, police found the victim's body in front of the living room picture window with her feet toward this window with a gunshot wound to the inside of her right eye. Police also found a bullet hole in the front living room window where the victim had been peering out between the curtains before being shot. Police also found three (3) bullet holes in *J.*'s bedroom, including one (1) in the bunk-bed where the children had been sleeping before Williams shot *Anthony*. Police recovered a fired bullet from that bedroom wall. Police also found blood on the carpet consistent with *Anthony's* testimony that after he was shot he collapsed on *J.*'s bedroom floor.

Police found no fired shell casings in the home, meaning Williams either picked up his brass or used a revolver to commit the crime. Police did not find the murder weapon in the victim's home either. Williams took the gun with him when he fled the crime scene.

The autopsy of the victim determined she was not killed with her own gun, a semi-automatic. She was killed with a .38/9mm bullet. This bullet was consistent with the bullet found in the wall in *J.*'s bedroom. A box of .38 caliber bullets was found in Williams' home in Gray Court after he was arrested. These were consistent with the two (2) bullets found at the crime scene, i.e. the one (1) in the wall and the one (1) removed from *Natasha's* head.

While Williams testified at trial that both victims were shot while he was acting in self-defense, and that he came the residence to check on *Natasha* and the children, Williams did not stay at the scene and call 911 or the police. He did not stay at the home to care for the minor

children. He claimed he fled out the back of the home. He fled from the crime scene in his Chrysler 300.

Upon returning to Gray Court, Williams hid the Chrysler 300, the vehicle which he used to commit the crimes, in his garage, pushing a lawn mower behind it, and closing the garage door. Williams then changed vehicles into a Chevy Tahoe.

During this time, Williams spoke to a friend, and related to a friend something that was so incriminating that the friend would not include it in his written statement to police.

Williams was eventually spotted by police in the Tahoe, and fled from them when they attempted to apprehend him for the crimes in Greenville County. Williams led police on a 26 mile high speed chase, at times exceeding 110 m.p.h., in which he refused to stop and only stopped when his vehicle was rammed and disabled. It was then, rather than being apprehended for the crimes in Greenville, Williams attempted to take his own life by stabbing himself in the chest.

In addition to murder, the jury was charged on voluntary manslaughter, self-defense, and accident, and rejected all of the same finding Williams guilty of murder. It is clear the jury found Williams' preposterous story of how the events occurred not credible.

It is easy to see why. Williams' version of events was simply incredible and beyond belief. Admittedly, after legal papers for a restraining order and child support had been filed against him, and knowing that his wife was afraid of him, he drove to his estranged wife's home at approximately 4:45 a.m, and while dark, with the dogs barking, he attempted to open the front door without even knocking. (R. p. 366). His claim that he did not hear the victim yelling for

him to leave is also not credible as her statements are reflected on the 911 tape, and *Anthony* heard them in another part of the house. (R. p. 369, State's Ex. 1, [911 tape]). And, his claim that he fought with a man in front of the house and, as a result, the victim who he was angry with was coincidentally shot between the eyes strains credulity. Further, his claim that he and *Anthony* both fell through a small window in the garage / den area ending up in the house without breaking any glass is beyond belief. Further, it is incomprehensible to believe that he and *Anthony* struggled throughout the entire length of the house ending up in *J.*'s bedroom. Furthermore, his claim that he was at the home to check on the children is belied by the fact that after the shooting, he claims he never saw the children, and he did not remain at the scene to see about their welfare, but fled in the car he came in. Finally, the fact that he would engage in a 26 mile high speed chase with police, when as he claimed at trial, he did nothing wrong, is beyond belief.

Furthermore, *Williams*' own admissions at trial thoroughly incriminated him. He admitted that on the night of the murder he had attempted to call the deceased victim two (2) times before going to her home, and she would not answer his calls. (R. pp. 329, 377). He admitted he had been drinking alcohol on the night of his estranged wife's murder before he went to her home. (R. p. 372). He admitted he left his date at a night club at approximately 3:30 a.m., and changed clothes at another location before going to his estranged wife's residence. (R. pp. 326-28). He admitted he went to his wife's residence at approximately 4:45 a.m., while still dark, after she had already served him with papers seeking a restraining order, and he was due in Court three (3) days later on the requested restraining order and child support. (R. pp. 366-67, 329-30, 365). He admitted his wife was afraid of him. (R. p. 357). He admitted there had been two (2) prior domestic incidents at *Natasha*'s residence before he moved out including one

where he confronted her with a weapon [a gun] and another in which the police were called to the home. (R. pp. 358-61, 312). He admitted he and *Natasha* had two (2) weapons, before he moved out of the home. (R. p. 312, ll. 7-12).¹⁴ He admitted he appeared at *Natasha*'s residence again on June 25, 2014, fifteen (15) days before her murder. (R. p. 361). He admitted he went to *Natasha*'s residence the night of the murder in his Chrysler 300. (R. p. 365). He admitted that on the night of the murder when he arrived at *Natasha*'s home, a car was parked in the driveway with North Carolina license plates [*Natasha*'s new boyfriend's car]. (R. pp. 329-30). He admitted he approached her home in the dark and attempted to open the door without knocking or talking to *Natasha* first. (R. pp. 336, 332). He then admitted he began knocking on the door. (R. p. 332). He admitted he saw someone peering through the front window curtains with the lights off. (R. p. 369, 333). He admitted *Natasha* was shot shortly after he saw someone peering through the front curtains. (R. p. 338-43). He admitted he entered her home through a knocked out window. (R. p. 340). He admitted he had received military training in how to enter and clear houses when someone is inside. (R. pp. 362, 280). He admitted he ended up in *J.*'s room where *Anthony* was shot. (R. p. 342). He admitted after *Anthony* was shot, he went to the living room and checked *Natasha*'s body and determined she was dead. (R. p. 343). He admitted he did not call 911. (R. p. 344). He admitted he did not remain at the residence but fled the scene in the Chrysler 300. (R. pp. 344-46). He admitted upon returning to his home in Gray Court he placed the Chrysler 300 in his garage, pushed the lawn mower behind the car, and closed the garage door. (R. pp. 373-76, 379-80). He admitted he then changed vehicles into the Chevy Tahoe. (R. p. 373-74). He admitted when police began following him he engaged in a 26 mile chase in

¹⁴ After the murder, police only found one (1) weapon after entering the residence. It was *Natasha*'s weapon lying next to her body.

which he refused to stop, even with tires flattened, until he was rammed by a police car. (R. pp. 351-53, 355-56). And, he admitted he attempted to kill himself with a knife taken from his glove box as police were approaching the car to arrest him. (R. p. 353).

Further, he never testified he had his hands on the alleged weapon that *Anthony* allegedly pointed at him. He alleged he employed a defensive maneuver he had been trained to use in self-defense, and the maneuver caused *Anthony* to fire the weapon.

Given the evidence *in this particular case*, and *considering the entire record*, the failure to charge involuntary manslaughter was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Middleton (failure to charge lesser included offense was harmless after a fact specific inquiry); *see* Battle (failure to charge lesser included offense was not harmless after a fact specific inquiry).